RECEIVED

OCT 20 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI-PCR-COMMON PLEAS
Appeal from Richland County
Hon. William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001597
Lower Case No. 2021-CP-40-01788

Ricardo L. Middleton, Petitioner,

vs

State of South Carolina, Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
S.C. Bar No. 6188

Attorney for Petitioner

Questions Presented

Question I: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to grant a new trial based upon the availability of the testimony of Marquez Johnson who aided Mr. Middleton's self defense claim and was not available to testify at Mr. Middleton's trial?

Question II: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to rule the affidavit of Natasha Coad giving a version of the facts different from her trial testimony is after discovered evidence which entitled Ricardo Middleton to a new trial?

Question III: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to award Ricardo Middleton a new trial when both the State and defense counsel made numerous references to the two motorcycle clubs being gangs or outlaw clubs when no evidence established such facts?

Question IV: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to provide for a new trial for Ricardo Middleton when trial counsel failed to object to a witness for the state giving opinion testimony as to why a witness did not testify when the effect of the testimony was to explain the absence of a witness and to vouch for the credibility of another witness?

Question V: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to give Ricardo Middleton a new trial when the trial counsel called attention to Mr. Middleton not testifying when trial counsel stated in England the failure to testify is held against the defendant?

Question VI: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a self defense charge when the evidence supported such a charge?

Question VII: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when he had not prepared Ricardo Middleton to testify, had developed no real theory of defense for the trial, and had failed to subpoena an important witness?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

Ricardo Middleton was indicted in case Nos 2017-GS-40-5852, 5854 and 5855. Mr. Marquez Johnson, a co-defendant, was indicted for the same charges in indictment Nos 2017-GS-40-6536, 6535, 6537. In addition, Mr. Johnson was indicted for one count of misprison of a felony in indictment No 2017-GS-40-5857. The charges arose out of a shooting incident that occurred on July 27, 2017.

Mr. Middleton was tried on August 19-22, 2019. The result of his trial was he was convicted in indictment No 2017-GS-40-5854 for the murder of Syndi Collins. He was found not guilty in indictment No 2017-GS-40-5852 for the attempted murder of Ricky Montgomery. The jury was unable to reach a verdict in indictment No 2017-40-5855 as to the death of Aaron Collins. On September 26, 2019, Mr. Middleton was sentenced to life in prison. Post trial motions were held on February 21, 2020.

Mr. Middleton filed a Notice of Appeal on March 2, 2020. He voluntarily withdrew his appeal on December 21, 2020 and the Court dismissed his appeal on December 23, 2020. He then filed his Post Conviction Relief Action on April 16, 2021.

A Post Conviction Relief hearing was held on September 26, 2024 before Judge Mark T. McKinnon. On July 15, 2025 Judge McKinnon dismissed the application for Post Conviction Relief. Mr. Middleton filed his Notice of Appeal on August 11, 2025.

Factual History

The trial

On July 27, 2017, a shooting occurred at the intersection of Parkland Road and Claudia

Drive. In the shooting Aaron Collins and Syndi Collins were killed. The state alleged that the shooting arose from a dispute a week before when Mr. Middleton approached Jayrell Johnson, a member of the 27/7 Boyz, which is a support club of the Outcast Motorcycle Club. App. 217, ll 5-20. The State, however, produced no testimony that Mr. Middleton and Mr. Johnson had any serious disagreement the week before the shooting. One witness stated, "It was not an aggressive conversation, and then Rells [Mr. Johnson] got in his car and left." App. at 315, ll 7-9.

On the night of the shooting, a fight had broken out at a bar and restaurant named My House Bar and Grill. This fight did not involve Mr. Middleton. App. at 310, ll 11-15. The fight was between two females. App. at 326, ll 5-12. After the fight, Mr. Middleton was seen walking around the parking lot. He was not talking to many people. App. at 309, l 24 to 310, l 13. No one testified Mr. Middleton had any words or conversation with Aaron Collins or Syndi Collins.

Mr. Middleton, as a member of the Thunderguard Motorcycle Club, had received a text message about possible trouble at My House Bar and Grill. Ronnie Scott, the vice-president of the Thunderguards, after receiving the same text message, went to the location. App. at 349, ll 13-23. He testified that as it turned out, everything was OK. App. at 350, ll 15-17. Mr. Scott went to check on Marquez Johnson. While at the location he also saw Ricardo Middleton. He did not speak to Mr. Middleton but simply noticed him standing in the parking lot. App. at 352, ll 7-22.

Mr. Scott, the Collins, Ricky Montgomery, Marquez Johnson, Phillip Coates and Mr. Middleton left My House headed in the same general direction, but not together. Mr. Scott and Mr. Middleton were in vehicles. The others were on motorcycles. Eventually all of these people ended up at the intersection of Parkland Road and Claudia Drive. At the intersection, Mr. Coates

and Mr. Johnson were in the extreme right lane with Mr. Coates being on the outside. To the left of Mr. Johnson were the Collins on one motorcycle. Mr. Montgomery was to left of the Collins in the same lane as them. To the left of Mr. Montgomery was Mr. Middleton in his automobile in the left turning lane. They all came to a stop at the red light. Directly behind Mr. Johnson and Mr. Coates was the truck driven by Mr. Scott. From his position, Mr. Scott observed Mr. Johnson and Mr. Collins exchanging words. He did not testify as to hearing the words. App. at 353, ll 3-6.

Mr. Scott observed Mr. Middleton getting out of his automobile and approaching Mr. Montgomery. Mr. Middleton struck Mr. Montgomery. App. at 353, ll 6-9. He then observed Ms. Collins get off the motorcycle she was sharing with her husband and started “reaching into her vest, vest [sic] very aggressively. From that point, muzzle flash and there was a lot of gunfire I definitely heard at that time.” App. at 353, l 24 to 354, l 1. Upon the beginning of the shooting, Mr. Scott ducked down until the shooting stopped.

When the shooting stopped, Mr. Scott looked up and saw Mr. Johnson trying to crank his motorcycle. As the motorcycle would not start, he pulled up beside Mr. Johnson and told him to get in his truck. App. at 355, ll 7-9. He and Mr. Johnson returned to My House. Upon returning to My House, Mr. Johnson left R. Scott’s truck and returned to pick up his motorcycle, a distance of approximately .4 of a mile.¹ Upon the return of Mr. Johnson, Mr. Scott took Mr. Johnson home and he continued on to work.

¹ The South Carolina Supreme Court, in an appeal, has taken judicial notice of distances by the use of Rand McNally’s Road Atlas. “Rand McNally’s Road Atlas indicates Gray, Tennessee, is about ten miles from Johnson City, Tennessee.” *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004). Counsel used Google Earth for this calculation.

Phillip Coates, as a member of Thunderguards, had received the same text message as Mr. Scott and came to My House. App. at 371, ll 2-14. He did not see anyone he knew at My House. As he was riding home on Parkland Road, he did encounter Mr. Johnson. App. at 371, ll 18-22. He was on the right side of Mr. Johnson when they stopped at the red light. At the light he observed Mr. Johnson talking to “somebody on a bike.” App. at 371, ll 25 to 372, ll 1. When he heard the shot, he took off on his motorcycle. He did not observe the shooting. Shortly afterwards, Mr. Johnson came to Mr. Coates house and they returned to retrieve the motorcycle of Mr. Johnson. Mr. Coates did not see Mr. Middleton that evening.

As a result of the shooting, Aaron and Syndi Collins were killed. Ms. Collins received two bullet wounds. One was to her chest and one to her face and neck area. Both were fatal shots. App. at 440, ll 7-9. Ms. Collins was found on her back in the road. “Her right hand had a Glock handgun . . .” App. at 237, ll 12-13. The testimony from the ballistics experts stated that a bullet had been fired from the weapon held by Ms. Collins. A shell casing matching the firearm held by Ms. Collins was found on the ground near the body. App. 490, ll 5-24.

The testimony of other witnesses that described the shooting was at time conflicting. For example, Natasha Coad identified Mr. Middleton as being on a motorcycle and shooting Mr. Collins. App. at 330, ll 7-13. Even the State in its closing argument admitted Ms. Coad was “confused.” App. at 596, ll 14-17. The investigation uncovered testimony that individuals involved in the shooting had come from a black SUV. App. at 512, ll 9-14. This was later proven not to be true. Despite there being some motion activated video near the scene, none showed the actual shooting.

The State argued in opening and closing that Mr. Middleton walked over to Ms. Collins

and shot her in the face. App. at 218, ll 14-16; 588, ll 20-22. No witness nor video confirms this action. While the bullet wound to the face did not penetrate the body, Dr. Amy Durso never testified as to any shored gunshot wound. A shored wound would have indicated that the body was pressed against a firm surface that prevented the bullet from exiting the body. The State had a theory, but it was not the only theory.

Mr. Middleton left the scene and returned to his residence in Monks Corner. He was arrested in Summerville, SC several days later. App. at 522, l 21 to 523, l 1. When arrested he denied being in the Columbia area on the night of the shooting. App. at 549, ll 22-24.

The Post Conviction Relief Hearing

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing Mr. Middleton testified he was at the scene of the shooting on July 27, 2017. He stated he had received the same text message mentioned by Mr. Scott and Mr. Coates. When he arrived at My House, he did not see any members of the Thunderguards other than Marquez Johnson. They talked briefly and then left. App. at 25, ll 12-20. He took a different route from Mr. Johnson leaving My House, but they both ended up on the Parkland Road headed in the same direction.

He testified that when he stopped at Parkland Road and Claudia Drive, he saw Marquez Johnson engaging in what appeared to be a heated exchange with Mr. Collins. App. at 27, ll 10-18. He stated he went up to Mr. Montgomery in an effort to solicit his aid in defusing what appeared, to Mr. Middleton, to be a confrontation between Mr. Johnson and Mr. Collins. When he approached Mr. Montgomery, he was cussed at and saw Mr. Montgomery pull a firearm. At that point he struck Mr. Montgomery knocking him to the ground. App. at 30 ll 8-15. Upon striking Mr. Montgomery, he observed a woman who was off the motorcycle fire a gun. At that

point he returned the fire. App. at 30, l 21 to 31, l 6. After the shooting he returned to his automobile and left. App. at 31, l 25 to 32, l 2.

After he was arrested, he retained Tivis Southerland as his attorney. He testified he did not discuss any trial strategy with Mr. Southerland. He testified his lawyer stated the burden was on the government. The theory of defense was "Let them prove it." App. at 33, l 20.

He further stated neither of the motorcycle clubs involved in the altercation was a motorcycle gang. He stated he believed the use of the word "gang" in the trial unduly prejudiced him. As he stated, "[I]t painted me as a bad person." App. at 34, l 25.

He further stated he would have liked to have used Mr. Johnson as a witness on his behalf, but he was not allowed to speak to Mr. Johnson. App. at 61, l 24 to 62, l 6. He noted that both he and Mr. Johnson had the exact same charges.

After the trial, Ricky Montgomery filed a civil suit against Mr. Middleton. As part of the civil suit an affidavit of Natasha Coad was filed with the suit and was provided to him. This affidavit was introduced as Exhibit 1 by Mr. Middleton. The affidavit gave a version of the events that was strikingly different from her trial testimony. The differences were significant as in the affidavit she stated Mr. Middleton got out of the passenger side of the automobile. The affidavit further stated Mr. Middleton hit Mr. Montgomery with the car door. Mr. Middleton believed that this affidavit could have been used to impeach the testimony of Ms. Coad.

Part of the theory of the state was Mr. Middleton had had a previous run in with a member of the Outcast Motorcycle Club. Mr. Middleton noted that the discovery provided to him in this case contained an affidavit from Jayrell Johnson with whom Mr. Middleton had had a previous run in. The affidavit from Mr. Johnson established that he and Mr. Johnson resolved

their differences and shook hands. App. at 754-759. Mr. Middleton believed that the testimony from Mr. Johnson would have helped establish that there were no hostilities between him and the other club and with Mr. Johnson in particular. His attorney did not subpoena Mr. Jayrell Johnson.

During the presentation of evidence by the state, Tivis Southerland testified. He stated his memory is he went over all the discovery with Mr. Middleton, but as he stated, "This is Ricks [sic] case. So, his memory is probably going to be better than mine." App. at 56, l 4-6. He stated his defense was a case of misidentification. As he stated, "That it was just misidentification. That he was there because everybody's there" App. at 56, ll 23-24 . As to his discussion with Mr. Middleton, he stated, "but our discussions were that he wasn't there and that it was misidentification." App. at 57, ll 8-9. On cross-examination he also stated he has no recollection of where Mr. Middleton told him he was if he was not at the scene. His file contained no notes as to another location for Mr. Middleton. App. at 57, ll 5-10.

His defense was to try and place the blame for the shooting on Ronnie Scott. App. at 58, ll 17-19. He stated he did not use self-defense because his position had always been that Mr. Middleton was not there and it was a case of misidentification. As to his cross-examination of Mr. Scott, his theory was, "[Y]ou're up here throwing him [Middleton] under the bus because you did it, is the way I looked at it." App. at 58 ll 17-19. He denied Mr. Middleton ever told him he was present or that he shot in self-defense.

Mr. Southerland attempted to talk to the co-defendant, Mr. Johnson, but Mr. Johnson's lawyer would not permit him to be interviewed. App. at 61, l 24 to 62, l 6.

Mr. Southerland acknowledged that he should have objected to the use of the word

“gang” when the state was referring to the two motorcycle clubs. The state also referred to the word “gang” in its closing argument. App. at 76, l 20 to 77, l 1. He admitted he considered this a close case, apparently meaning the jury could have decided it either way. As the jury acquitted Mr. Middleton of the attempted murder and was unable to reach a verdict on the death of Mr. Collins, the belief appears justified.

He agreed that as the record established Syndi Collins fired first, he would have a plausible self defense case.² He stated his defense was “It wasn’t him, he wasn’t there,” so he did not request a self defense charge. App. at 74, l 24 to 75, l 3

When shown the affidavit of Natasha Coad Mr. Middleton received after his trial, he agreed the statement would have been helpful. Ms. Coad had previously given several contradictory statements. The after discovered affidavit would have been another means of impeaching her.

Mr. Southerland’s attention was called to the testimony of Tiama Jordan who testified as to motorcycle gangs members not wanting to talk to the police. He agreed he was giving an opinion. He admitted Mr. Jordan had not been qualified as an expert and he did not object. He finally concluded, “I shouldn’t have let him run.” App. at 79, ll 6-7.

In his closing argument, Mr. Southerland made a reference to the fact that in England, the failure of a defendant to testify can be used against the defendant. He stated he used the argument because he wanted to compare how other countries treat defendants as opposed to how

² The record establishes Ms. Collins fire a weapon before she was killed. The record contradicts the closing argument by the state that “she was shot before she could get a shot off.” App. at 589, ll 10-11. The state also argued Mr. Middleton “pistol whipped Ricky Montgomery.” App. at 588, ll 19. No testimony supports that claim.

our country treats defendant. He finally stated, "It could have been a bad idea." App. at 81, l 24.

Mr. Southerland admitted he had not prepared Mr. Middleton to testify. App. at 82, ll 6-8. He stated he and Mr. Middleton had a serious and heated discussion at the end of the state's case as to whether he would testify. He stated he told Mr. Middleton, "Man, you're gonna blow it." App. at 83, l 8. He finally admitted he had not had a serious discussion as to whether Mr. Middleton would testify. App. at 84, ll 6-11.

The final witness for the state was Lama Fyall, one of the prosecutors in the case. He stated the state's theory was Mr. Middleton and Marques Johnson were operating together to get back at the members of the other club. App. at 89, l 18 to 90, l 4. The state's belief was Mr. Middleton struck Ricky Montgomery and shot and killed Syndi Collins. Mr. Collins was killed by Marques Johnson. App. at 90, ll 8-9.

He further testified the state wanted Jayrell Johnson to testify. He believed the testimony fit into the state's theory about a run in at the bar the previous week. He further advised Mr. Johnson was avoiding the subpoena. App. at 93, ll 13-16.

He agreed that the state made a conscious decision to limit the use of the phrase "biker gang" of the word "gang." He further agreed that the word and phrase would be prejudicial. App. at 100, ll 5-6. He further believed that while the word and phrase would be prejudicial, he deemed them to be more probative than prejudicial. He admitted the state did not introduce any evidence that either the Outcast Motorcycle Club or the Thunderguard Motorcycle Club was a gang. He did not explain how the use of the word "gang" or the phrase "biker gang" was more probative than prejudicial.

Standard of Review

As to issues, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. “Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Mr. Middleton contends there are no facts to support the factual findings of the Post Conviction Relief judge.

Argument

Question I

Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to grant a new trial based upon the availability of the testimony of Marquez Johnson who aided Mr. Middleton’s self defense claim and was not available to testify at Mr. Middleton’s trial?

Prior to Mr. Johnson’s hearing pursuant to South Carolina Code § 16-11-410 he was a co-defendant of Mr. Middleton and not available to testify. As a result of the hearing, commonly called a “stand your ground” hearing, Mr. Johnson had his charges dismissed as he effectively established to the satisfaction of the judge hearing the case, that he fired his weapon in self defense. The testimony of Marquez Johnson qualifies as after discovered evidence as he was not available as a witness for Mr. Middleton. Mr. Southerland testified he attempted to interview Mr. Johnson but was unable to do so. App. at 61, 1 24 to 62, 1 2. The testimony of Mr. Johnson obviously would have been helpful to Mr. Middleton. He clearly testified Ms. Collins was off the bike and raising her hand before any shots were fired. This statement supported Mr. Middleton’s testimony that Ms. Collins fired a shot before he fired a shot. The testimony at trial established that Ms. Collins most likely would not have been able to draw and fire her pistol after she was hit with either shot. This made Mr. Middleton’s statement that he fired after Ms. Collins fired plausible, if not highly probable. Had the jury heard the testimony of Mr. Johnson, the result

of the case easily could have been different. The testimony established the Glock firearm was found in the hand of Ms. Collins. App. at 237, ll 12-15. Later testimony established she had fired her pistol. App. at 492, ll 8-10³

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