RECEIVED

Mar 23 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Richland County
Honorable L. Casey Manning, Trial Judge
Honorable William A. McKinnon, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025–001597

Ricardo L. Middleton, #381526,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803–734–3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, Petitioner's challenge to the propriety of the post-conviction relief court's denying the testimony of Marquez Johnson was newly or after-discovered evidence cannot be successful on appeal as a matter of law because Petitioner has only raised challenges to some of the multiple stand-alone grounds upon which the ruling was based, which means the unchallenged ground of untimeliness has now become the law of the case regardless of whether it was right or wrong. Furthermore, notwithstanding the applicability of the law-of-the-case doctrine, the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish that the testimony of Marquez Johnson was newly discovered evidence, where Johnson chose not to testify at Petitioner's trial, and the information he testified to at the evidentiary hearing was not newly discovered evidence, but rather just newly available to Petitioner now.

On appeal, Petitioner first contends that the post-conviction relief court erred in denying a new trial based on the testimony of co-defendant Marquez Johnson (Marquez), which Petitioner now characterizes as newly discovered evidence supporting a self-defense claim. This argument fails at the outset. The post-conviction relief court correctly found that Marquez's testimony was not "newly discovered" under the five-factor test of Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 387-88, 434 S.E.2d 266, 267 (1993). Marquez's Stand-Your-Ground immunity order was entered in December 2019, which was more than sixteen months before Petitioner filed his post-conviction relief application, and his account at the evidentiary hearing was merely cumulative of the version of events already presented at trial. The post-conviction relief court rejected the claim on multiple independent grounds, each of which is amply supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari to this issue.

Pursuant to the law-of-the-case doctrine, a ruling becomes the law of the case regardless of whether it is right or wrong when it is not appealed. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 28, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). In light of that doctrine, a petitioner is necessarily required to appeal *all* the grounds upon which a ruling is based when it is based on multiple independent grounds. State v.

Hicks, 387 S.C. 378, 379, 692 S.E.2d 919, 920 (2010). Significantly, "should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a [circuit court judge]'s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case." Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015). Therefore, when a petitioner only *partially* appeals a circuit court judge's ruling based on more than one ground, the ruling automatically must be affirmed on appeal regardless of its actual correctness. Hicks, 387 S.C. at 379, 692 S.E.2d at 920; see Weeks v. McMillan, 291 S.C. 287, 292, 353 S.E.2d 289, 292 (Ct. App. 1987) ("Where a decision is based on alternative grounds, either of which independent of the other is sufficient to support it, the decision will not be reversed even if one of the grounds is erroneous.").

In the case *sub judice*, Petitioner contends on appeal that the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding the testimony of Marquez Johnson (Marquez) was not newly or after-discovered evidence.¹ In raising that particular contention, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding that he had failed multiple Clark factors. (PWC p. 12). Petitioner then attacks the propriety of that ruling *exclusively* on the basis that he met all of the Clark factors. (PWC pp. 11–13). Importantly, though, the post-conviction relief judge's ruling on this matter was not based exclusively on a finding that Petitioner's allegation failed multiple Clark factors. Instead, in declining to grant post-conviction relief on this matter as newly or after-discovered evidence, the

¹ Marquez's Stand-Your-Ground immunity order was filed on December 19, 2019, more than sixteen months before Petitioner filed his post-conviction relief application on April 16, 2021. (App'x p. 748). Under the discovery rule, post-conviction relief claims based on newly or after-discovered facts must be filed within one year after the facts "could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence." S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(C). The post-conviction relief court held that Marquez's testimony "could have been discovered through reasonable diligence in December 2019." Id. Petitioner's brief ignores this deadline entirely and offers no explanation for the delay. This alone defeats the claim. See Clark, 315 S.C. at 387-88.

post-conviction relief judge *also* analyzed the timeliness issue of whether Petitioner had timely asserted this allegation. Indeed, the post-conviction relief judge found that this allegation was not timely raised to the post-conviction relief court.² (App'x p. 748).

Under such circumstances, the ruling denying Petitioner post-conviction relief on the basis of Marquez's testimony as newly or after-discovered evidence unquestionably rests on more than just a finding of whether or not he met the Clark factors. By contrast, Petitioner's appellate challenge to that ruling has been raised solely on the Clark factors. Because Petitioner did not raise the issue of timeliness in this appeal, the post-conviction relief judge's finding that it was untimely is the law of the case and cannot be disturbed on appeal. See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Under the two issue rule, where a trial court's decision is based

² The post-conviction relief court expressly assumed *arguendo* that the claim was timely and still found that the evidence failed to satisfy factors (1), (3), (4), and (5) of the Clark test. (App'x p. 749). Under Clark factor 3, the post-conviction relief court found the evidence was not newly or after-discovered and could have been found with due diligence. Under Clark factors 4 and 5, the post-conviction relief court found the evidence merely cumulative and not material. Marquez's post-conviction relief testimony described the exact same sequence of events already presented at trial, only from his perspective. Critically, Marquez testified that he *ducked his head before the shots were fired* and only looked up *after* Sydni Collins was already on the ground. (App'x pp. 18–19; 748). Marquez never saw who fired first and could not corroborate Petitioner's claim that he fired in response to Sydni firing. The post-conviction relief court found this "merely cumulative" and "not material to Applicant's guilt or innocence." (App'x p. 748). Under Clark factor 1, the post-conviction relief court determined that there was no reasonable probability of a different result had the evidence been presented at trial. Marquez's testimony did not change the sequence of events or establish that Petitioner acted in lawful self-defense or defense of another. Petitioner also claims Marquez's testimony would have (a) negated the "hand of one is the hand of all" theory and (b) made Petitioner's version "highly probable." (PWC pp. 11–12). Both assertions are refuted by the record, where 1) the State never relied on accomplice liability for the Sydni Collins count, and no evidence at trial or in the post-conviction relief hearing ever suggested Petitioner and Marquez had a pre-arranged plan regarding Sydni Collins; 2) Marquez never testified that he saw Sydni with a gun in her hand, that he saw her draw before the shots, or that Sydni fired first, and his account actually undercuts Petitioner's self-defense claim because Johnson could not see the critical moment; and 3) the Glock was recovered in Sydni's hand and had been fired (App'x pp. 237, 492), but that fact was already before the jury. Marquez added nothing new.

on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case."), abrogated on other grounds by Repko v. County of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018).

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to raise the issue of timeliness that was expressly ruled on by the post-conviction relief court, and this becomes the law of the case. For all the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari as to Question I.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and found that the affidavit of Natasha Coad was not newly or after-discovered evidence, nor suppressed, and Trial Counsel extensively cross-examined her, and there was no reasonable probability of a different result should the affidavit have been available at trial.

Next, Petitioner avers that the post-conviction relief court erred in failing to rule that the affidavit of Natasha Coad, which offered a version of the facts different from her trial testimony, constituted after-discovered evidence that entitled Petitioner to a new trial. Notably, Petitioner concedes that Coad's affidavit does not meet the requirement to be considered after-discovered evidence, but contends this Court should still consider it "in conjunction with the other after-discovered evidence." Respondent agrees with Petitioner to the extent that Coad's statement does not meet the standard for newly or after-discovered evidence as it is merely impeaching; however, as argued in Issue #I, the other newly or after-discovered evidence of Marquez's testimony is newly available, and not newly or after-discovered evidence. Because Coad's affidavit fails the test for newly or after-discovered evidence, the post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner was not entitled to a new trial on this basis. Furthermore, the post-conviction relief court found Trial Counsel extensively cross-examined Coad to impeach her, and there was no reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial had the affidavit been available. Accordingly, this Court should uphold the post-conviction relief court's findings and deny certiorari on this issue.

See Clark, Hayden, Caskey, supra.

As an initial matter, Petitioner concedes that Coad's affidavit does not constitute newly or after-discovered evidence, and Respondent agrees that, based on the factors necessary to be considered such evidence, at the very least, the Coad affidavit fails the Clark factor five as it was merely impeaching.³ Our jurisprudence is clear that the test for newly or after-discovered evidence is guided by the five Clark factors, and failing one of them ends the inquiry.

Nevertheless, Coad's civil affidavit was filed and became a public record on April 22, 2020—more than seven months after Petitioner's August 19-22, 2019, trial. (App'x pp. 710, n.3; 85). Petitioner himself testified he first learned of it only after conviction, when served in the civil suit. (App'x pp. 37–39). The post-conviction relief court found that Trial Counsel credibly testified he had no knowledge of, and no access to, the document. (App'x p. 85). The post-conviction relief court correctly held it could not qualify as newly or after-discovered evidence for that reason alone. (App'x p. 710).

Additionally, the post-conviction relief court expressly found that Trial Counsel impeached Coad with three separate prior statements she gave to law enforcement. (App'x pp. 334–344; 708). Trial Counsel highlighted those inconsistencies in both opening and closing arguments. (App'x pp. 60–61; 223–227; 614). The post-conviction relief court credited this testimony and found Petitioner failed to overcome the "strong presumption" of competent representation. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 582 (2007); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Critically, the civil affidavit is largely consistent with Coad's trial testimony. (App'x pp. 710, n.3).

³ In her affidavit, Coad stated she witnessed a shooting, that one of the shooters exited the vehicle, the shooter pistol-whipped Montgomery, and Montgomery fell to the ground, and the motorcycle fell on top of him. (App'x pp. 752–753). This is consistent with Coad's trial testimony (App'x pp. 325–331). However, in her affidavit, she stated that the car door struck Montgomery's motorbike, causing it to fall. (App'x pp. 752–753).

The only minor difference (how Ricky Montgomery's motorcycle fell) does not alter the core facts: Petitioner exited a vehicle and opened fire. Trial Counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to use a document that (a) did not exist at the time of trial and (b) would not have materially changed the cross-examination.

Petitioner cites Riddle v. Ozment, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006) and Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 514 S.E.2d 320 (1999) for the proposition that withheld impeaching evidence can require a new trial. Those cases are inapposite. Both involved Brady⁴ material that the State possessed *before* trial. Here, the affidavit did not exist and was not publicly available until *after* the trial. Petitioner expressly concedes: "No evidence exists that the State knew of this affidavit." (PWC p. 13, n.4), and Solicitor Fyall testified that the State had no involvement in the civil suit. Simply put, there is no suppression. See Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263 (1999) (no Brady violation absent possession by the State).

Turning to Petitioner's fallback argument—that the Coad affidavit should be considered "in conjunction with" Marquez's testimony (PWC p. 14)—fails for the reasons set forth in the response to Question I. Marquez's testimony was properly rejected as cumulative and non-material. Adding an additional impeachment tool that (a) post-dates the trial and (b) is largely consistent with Coad's account does not create a "reasonable probability" of a different outcome. While Trial Counsel described the case as "close," the post-conviction relief court correctly found that neither the Coad affidavit nor its combination with Marquez's testimony undermines confidence in the verdict. The PCR judge, who presided over the full evidentiary hearing, made explicit credibility findings and detailed factual conclusions. Those findings are entitled to deference. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

⁴ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari as to Question II.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish Trial Counsel's representation was constitutionally ineffective based on Trial Counsel's failure to object to the references to the motorcycle clubs as gangs where it was admissible to prove motive, and Trial Counsel's strategic decision was reasonable, and no reasonable probability of a different result exists.

In his third issue, Petitioner avers that the post-conviction relief court erred in finding that Trial Counsel's representation was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to references to the motorcycle clubs as gangs or outlaw clubs, because there was no evidence to establish such facts. However, the post-conviction relief court properly found that the evidence was admissible to prove motive under Rule 404(b) and 403, SCRE, and any objection would likely not have been successful. Accordingly, this Court should uphold the post-conviction relief court's findings and deny certiorari on this issue.

An ineffective assistance claim based on a failure to object is tied to the admissibility of the underlying evidence." Hough v. Anderson, 272 F.3d 878, 898 (7th Cir. 2001). "If evidence admitted without objection was admissible, then the complained of action fails both prongs of the Strickland test: failing to object to admissible evidence cannot be a professionally 'unreasonable' action, nor can it prejudice the defendant against whom the evidence was admitted." Id.

The "use and timing of objections at trial is a quintessential matter of strategy and discretion on the part of the trial attorney, and will very seldom constitute objectively deficient representation." United States v. Nguyen, 379 F. App'x 177, 181 (3d Cir. 2010); see Humphries v. Ozmint, 397 F.3d 206, 234 (4th Cir. 2005) (Luttig, J., concurring) ("[I]t is well established that failure to object to inadmissible or objectionable material for tactical reasons can constitute objectively reasonable trial strategy under Strickland."); cf. Bergmann v. McCaughtry, 65 F.3d

1372, 1380 (7th Cir. 1995) (noting that deciding when to object is a matter of trial strategy that a lawyer has to make on the spot.).

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